Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-8-2011

Buku Properties v. Clark Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38561

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. FACTUAL EVENTS

Respondent, hereinafter "Buku", entered into two separate contracts^{1 2} with elderly couples³, hereinafter "Clark" and "Peterson". The contracts entered into by Buku with the appellants were nearly identical and both contracts depended on the complete sale of the real property of both Clark and Peterson to Buku. The contracts were intertwined to allow for the complete purchase of the adjoining property of both Clark and Peterson⁴. The Clark property consisted of 80.17 acres and a home; and, the Peterson property consisted of approximately 73 acres and a home. The elderly couples were using the sale of the real property for their retirement years. Each property was to be purchased for the following sum: Clark-\$1,044,075.18; Peterson-\$980,000.00.⁵

The two contracts were almost identical in nature. The major difference was the earnest money payment. The Clarks received \$25,000.00 of earnest money; the Petersons received \$327,000.00 of earnest money. The difference was the need, which was expressed to respondent (Buku), of the Petersons' desire to purchase a retirement townhouse in Idaho Falls, Idaho. The Peterson townhouse was purchased with the earnest money and was a known fact to all parties to the action. The Petersons relied upon the representations of plaintiff in accepting the down payment.

¹ The Clark contract is contained at pages 89-94 of the record.

² The Peterson contract is contained at pages 95-100 of the record.

³ Janet C. Clark is now deceased; Betty Jean Peterson has cancer which may be terminal.

⁴ See paragraph 25 of each contract. (R. pp 93, 99).

⁵ R. pp. 89, 100.

The Clarks received a modest down payment to sell their real property to the defendant and moved to Texas to begin their retirement plans. Neither set of defendants believed any contingencies existed and that the contract was to be completed by a date certain for them to begin retirement activities.

The parties entered into preliminary negotiations and, ultimately, signed the contracts prepared by the respondent on August 30, 2007.⁶ The closing date was established at December 21, 2007. The reason for the delay in closing was to allow the respondent to do its "due diligence". Both contracts contained paragraph 3 of the "due diligence" language.⁷ Due diligence or the conditions thereof are not explained in said paragraph.

The real estate purchase agreements conditions. state the terms and Defendants/appellants relied upon multiple promises of payment the respondent/plaintiffs to the appellants/defendants—even subsequent to the closing date of the transactions. The appellants did not participate with Buku's bank process nor were the appellants involved in any actions of respondent concerning financing.

No conditions were placed upon the sale of the real property as it related in any way, shape or form as to the County of Jefferson and any zoning or building requirements. The

⁶ R. pp. 93, 100.

Paragraph 3 of both contracts contains the following language: 3. Buyer's Obligations. Buyer is obligated to pay the earnest money as set forth in this agreement and pay the remaining purchase price at the tim0e of closing. Prior to closing, it is Buyer's obligation to make sure that they are fully satisfied with the condition of the property, also any requirements, environmental requirements, and all of the requirements that the Buyer needs to make for its due diligence purposes. Buyer will have four months to perform the due diligence inspections to satisfy Buyer's interests and concerns regarding the purchase. Thus, closing will be on or before December 21, 2007.

No mutual agreement or understanding was made by the appellants as to the ultimate usage of the real property being purchased by the respondent. In fact, the only understanding was that the down payment to Petersons was critical to their purchase of a retirement home in Idaho Falls. Respondent was well aware of the zoned property as it met with Jefferson County prior to the closing date on December 10, 2007.⁸ Both set of appellants continued to be ready, able and willing to perform on the sale and were ready, willing and able to close at the closing date and subsequent to the closing date.

Buku failed to close on December 21, 2007. The legal disputes revolve around paragraph 3 of the two contracts with the appellants; and, the use of the earnest money by Peterson. Buku alleged that there were zoning issues on the real properties. Appellants contend no such issues existed as the zoning never changed during the entire process. The contracts are silent on such language.

2. <u>LEGAL EVENTS</u>

Ten months after the expiration of the closing date for the sale of the two real properties, Buku signed it complaint for return of earnest money on October 15, 2008 and filed the same with the Jefferson County court system.¹⁰ The complaint alleged refund of earnest money; conversion; unjust enrichment; a pre-judgment interest request; along with a

⁸ R. pp. 148. Affidavit of Foster: Pre-application meeting shows December 10, 2007 and lots are zoned 1-acre,

⁹ R. pp. 144-146.

¹⁰ R. p. 12.

request for fees and costs.¹¹ Appellants filed an answer and counter-claim on December 10, 2008.¹² The counter-claim contained requests for specific performance of the contract; breach of contract; unjust enrichment; estoppel; promissory estoppel/detrimental reliance; consumer protection violations, along with a request for fees and costs.

Approximately one year after the complaint was filed, respondent, Buku, filed a request for summary judgment.¹³ Clark and Peterson filed a denial of the request for summary judgment and objection to respondent's request along with the appellants' motion for summary judgment.¹⁴ Additionally, a motion to strike portions of the respondent's affidavits was filed by appellants.¹⁵

District Judge Gregory Moeller was the sitting judge at the time and made a ruling denying summary judgment to respondents; and, did not consider the motion for summary judgment of appellants.¹⁶ He did opine, however, that the contracts with Clark and Peterson were unambiguous.¹⁷

District Judge Dane Watkins was appointed to the bench and was presented this first case from Jefferson County. The respondents, thereafter, filed a second motion for summary judgment.¹⁸ Appellants contested the motion with memorandum and various

4

¹¹ R. pp. 12-22.

¹² R. pp. 33-45.

¹³ R. pp. 64-65.

¹⁴ R. pp. 114-118.

¹⁵ R. pp. 119-121.

¹⁶ R. pp. 197-210.

¹⁷ R. pp. 203-205.

¹⁸ R. pp. 290-292.

affidavits.¹⁹ Judge Watkins granted summary judgment ²⁰to the respondent, Buku, on all issues and denied any of the counter-claim responses of the appellants, Clark and Peterson. Appellants timely appealed to this court.²¹ This court suspended the document entitled "judgment" and remanded to the district court for a "final judgment in proper form".²² The respondent then filed a motion for fees, costs and pre-judgment interest. The request for fees, costs and interest would have been untimely but for the remand. Appellant objected.²³

The district judge then awarded fees, costs and pre- judgment interest to the summary judgment decision award in favor of Buku.²⁴ The appellants then filed an amended appeal to this court.²⁵

ADDITIONAL ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. The Appellants request their costs and fees for the lower court proceedings.
- 2. The Appellants request their costs and fees on appeal.

ARGUMENT

1. SUMMARY

Two rulings on summary judgment were submitted to the district court. Judge Gregory Moeller heard the first motion for summary judgment and denied the request. Judge Dane Watkins heard the second motion for summary judgment and granted the

¹⁹ R. pp. 310-347.

²⁰ R. pp. 395-408.

²¹ R. pp. 409-412.

²² R. pp.434.

²³ R. pp 435-440.

²⁴ R. pp. 473-476.

²⁵ R. pp. 505-508.

request for the plaintiff/respondent.

The two major arguments of the appellants are straight-forward and clear in nature and described hereafter.

Both judges indicated the contracts in question were unambiguous. If so, then parol or evidence outside of the four corners of the contracts could not be considered. Both judges accepted information outside of the four corners of the contracts to render a decision. Thus, the contracts could not have been unambiguous.

Judge Watkins accepted affidavit testimony of the respondents and did not accept affidavit testimony of the appellants. Summary judgment could not have been granted and the factual disputes would have to be determined by the fact-finder, to-wit: the jury.

Appellants allege that the respondent breached the contracts; and, that summary judgment should have been granted in their favor. Worst case scenario, the appellants believe they should have had the opportunity to present their facts to the jury.

Judge Watkins then granted a monetary judgment; added prejudgment interest along with costs and fees.

The two major issues surround the "unambiguous" contract; and, the earnest money used by Peterson for their retirement townhome.

Summary judgment is proper when "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c) (2002). In a motion for summary judgment, this Court should liberally construe all facts in favor of the nonmoving party and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party. Northwest Bec-Corp v. Home Living Serv., 136 Idaho 835, 838-39, 41 P.3d 263, 266-67 (2002). Summary judgment must be denied if

reasonable persons could reach differing conclusions or draw conflicting inferences from the evidence presented.

Iron Eagle Development, LLC v. Quality Design Systems, Inc., 65 P.3d 509, 138 Idaho 487, (Idaho 2003)

----- Excerpt from page 65 P.3d 513.

2. <u>INTRODUCTION.</u>

The first major issue surrounding this case is the interpretation and application of a due "diligence clause" contained in both of the contracts before this court. That language is as follows:

3. Buyer's Obligations. Buyer is obligated to pay the earnest money as set forth in this agreement and pay the remaining purchase price at the time of closing. Prior to closing, it is Buyer's obligation to make sure that they are fully satisfied with the condition of the property, also any requirements, environmental requirements, and all of the requirements that the Buyer needs to make for its due diligence purposes. Buyer will have four months to perform the due diligence inspections to satisfy Buyer's interests and concerns regarding the purchase. Thus, closing will be on or before December 21, 2007.

This non-artfully drafted language is so vague that it would be impossible for any court to know what "buyer needs for its due diligence." Paragraph 24 of the contracts is very clear that the buyer drafted this agreement. As the court is well aware, the court must construe the language against the drafter.

(See, e.g., RESTATEMENT, supra, at § 201 (agreement interpreted in accordance with the meaning assigned by the more "innocent" of the parties); Luzar v. Western Surety Co., 107 Idaho 693, 692 P.2d 337 (1984) (where trier of fact is unable to determine the intent of the parties, preference is given to the meaning which operates against the party drafting the agreement); RESTATEMENT, supra, at § 207 (preferring an interpretation

²⁶ R. pp. 93, 99.

favoring the public interest).

USA Fertilizer, Inc. v. Idaho First Nat. Bank, 815 P.2d 469, 120 Idaho 271, (Idaho App. 1991)

----- Excerpt from page 815 P.2d 474.

The second major issue before this court concerns the earnest money agreement and the Petersons' purchase of the retirement townhome from the earnest money. No question exists that this purchase of townhome was a major factor in the sale contracts. It is evident this event was major and can determined from the earnest money to Clarks of \$25,000.00 and the comparing earnest money to Petersons of \$327,000.00.

3. THE RESPONDENT BREACHED THE CONTRACTS WITH APPELLANTS
AND THE INTENT OF SUCH CONTRACTS. THE LOWER COURT COULD NOT
SUPPLEMENT UNAMBIGUOUS CONTRACTS.

Case law in Idaho is well defined on the interpretation of contracts and is illustrated with the following:

The primary objective in construing a contract is to discover the intent of the parties, and in order to effectuate this objective, the contract must be viewed as a whole and considered in its entirety. The primary consideration in interpreting an ambiguous contract is to determine the intent of the parties. The determination of a contract's meaning and legal effect are questions of law to be decided by the court where the contract is clear and unambiguous. However, where a contract is determined to be ambiguous, the interpretation of the document presents a question of fact which focuses upon the intent of the parties. The determination of whether a contract is ambiguous or not is a question of law over which we may exercise free review, and in determining whether a contract is ambiguous, our task is to ascertain whether the contract is reasonably subject to conflicting interpretation.

Bondy v. Levy, 121 Idaho 993, 996-97, 829 P.2d 1342, 1345-46 (1992).

A. The first summary judgment motion ruled upon by Judge Gregory Moeller.

The first motion for summary judgment between the parties resulted in a decision from Judge Gregory Moeller denying summary judgment to either party. He opined that the contracts in question were not ambiguous. Thus, the court could not accept any information outside of the four corners of the contract to interpret the meaning of the contracts. The court did not do that as can be determined by his references to the information contained in affidavits of both parties.²⁷ If the contracts are unambiguous, outside information and/or parol evidence is irrelevant. Furthermore, the district court, in this first decision, focused on the earnest money provision and not the due diligence clause which are the two major issues before this court.

Under Idaho's parol evidence rule, where preliminary negotiations are consummated by written agreement, the writing supercedes all previous understandings and the intent of the parties must be ascertained from the writing. Nuquist v. Bauscher, 71 Idaho 89, 94, 227 P.2d 83, 86 (1951). This rule, however, applies only when the integrated character of the writing is established. Whether a particular subject of negotiation is embodied in the writing depends on the intent of the parties, revealed by their conduct and language, and by the surrounding circumstances. Nysingh v. Warren, 94 Idaho 384, 385, 488 P.2d 355, 356 (1971). The mere existence of a document does not establish integration. Id. A "merger" clause in a written agreement is one means of proving the integrated character of a writing. Tapper Chevrolet Co. v. Hansen, 95 Idaho 436, 510 P.2d 1091 (1973).

Katseanes v. Yamagata, 653 P.2d 1185, 103 Idaho 773, (Idaho App. 1982) ----- Excerpt from page 653 P.2d 1187.

The trial court's finding that the contract was ambiguous is a question of law. Watson Construction Co. v. Reppel Steel & Supply, 123 Ariz. 138, 598 P.2d 116 (Ariz.App.1979). When presented with an issue that raises only a question of law, this Court is not bound by the findings of the trial court, but is free to draw its own conclusions from the evidence presented. Sharp v.

²⁷ E.g. See footnotes 1-7 of the court's decision. R. pp.198-199, 203, 206.

Hoerner Waldorf Corp., 584 P.2d 1298 (Mont.1978). See Harding v. Home Investment & Savings Co., 49 Idaho 64, 286 P. 920 (1930).

The respondent cites Werry v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 97 Idaho 130, 540 P.2d 792 (1975), for the proposition that the trial court's finding of ambiguity must be respected on appeal. However, as shown by the analysis in Werry, the question of an ambiguity in a contract is separate from the question concerning the interpretation of an ambiguous contract. In Werry, we only held that, "where the terms of a contract are ambiguous its interpretation and meaning is a fact question to be determined by the jury." Id. at 135, 540 P.2d at 797, citing National Produce Distributors v. Miles & Meyer, 75 Idaho 460, 274 P.2d 831 (1954).

Clark v. St. Paul Property and Liability Ins. Companies, 639 P.2d 454, 102 Idaho 756, (Idaho 1981)

----- Excerpt from page 639 P.2d 455.

"Whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law over which we exercise free review." *Howard v. Perry*, 141 Idaho 139, 142, 106 P.3d 465, 468 (2005). Ambiguities can be either patent or latent. "Idaho courts look solely to the face of a written agreement to determine whether it is [patently] ambiguous." *Ward v. Puregro Co.*, 128 Idaho 366, 369, 913 P.2d 582, 585 (1996). Accord, *Valley Bank v. Christensen*, 119 Idaho 496, 808 P.2d 415 (1991). "A latent ambiguity is not evident on the face of the instrument alone, but becomes apparent when applying the instrument to the facts as they exist." *In re Estate of Kirk*, 127 Idaho 817, 824, 907 P.2d 794, 801 (1995).

Swanson v. Beco Const. Co., Inc., 175 P.3d 748, 145 Idaho 59, (Idaho 2007) ----- Excerpt from page 175 P.3d 751.

Thus, the court determines if language in a contract is ambiguous. If a contract or clause is not ambiguous, the court must stay within the four corners of the contract and may not consider evidence not contained in such contract. If the contract is ambiguous, the fact-finder determines the facts to consider the ambiguous language and application thereof.

When the terms of a contract are unambiguous, interpretation of the contract and its legal effect are questions of law. *Opportunity, L.L.C. v. Ossewarde,* 136 Idaho 602, 605, 38 P.3d 1258, 1261 (2002) (citing *Idaho v. Hosey,* 134 Idaho 883, 886, 11 P.3d 1101, 1104 (2000)). An unambiguous

contract will be given its plain meaning, which is based on the words of the contract. Id. The purpose of interpreting a contract is to determine the mutual intent of the contracting [138 Idaho 492] parties at the time the contract was entered. Id. at 607, 38 P.3d at 1263. If a contract is determined ambiguous, its interpretation is a question of fact. *Elec. Wholesale Supply Co., Inc. v. Nielson*, 136 Idaho 814, 823, 41 P.3d 242, 251 (citing *State v. Barnett*, 133 Idaho 231, 234, 985 P.2d 111, 114 (1999)).

Iron Eagle Development, LLC v. Quality Design Systems, Inc., 65 P.3d 509, 138 Idaho 487, (Idaho 2003)

----- Excerpt from pages 65 P.3d 513-65 P.3d 514.

The due diligence clause [paragraph 3 of the contracts] is overly broad by both the appellants' opinion and the first court decision. The contract, paragraph 3 clause: "they [Buku] are fully satisfied with the condition of the property, also any requirements, environmental requirements, and all of the requirements that the Buyer needs to make for its due diligence purposes" is unquestionably overly broad. Also, it is capable of various meanings and "all requirements" could include almost anything in the realm of possibility.

No questions exist that the <u>condition of the property</u> was not an issue. No questions exist as to <u>environmental concerns</u> as being a non-issue. Thus, the first portion of the due diligence language is not before the court.

What do "all of the requirements of the Buyer" mean? Nothing in the contract discusses land uses, zoning, financing, water rights, title issues, disasters, eminent domain or many of the "normal" concerns when purchasing real property. The contract appears to have an overly broad catch-all contained in "all of the requirements" phrase.

The respondents have made no claim, whatsoever, that any problem existed with the

²⁸ See, Judge Moeller's statement in the decision at R. p. 205, first paragraph.

real property of both Clark and Peterson. The ONLY claim asserted by Buku is that the property could <u>potentially</u> be re-zoned. Rhetorically asked: How could the district court even come up with this knowledge unless outside information was considered? If the contracts are unambiguous, the court had to rely purely on the contracts and not consider any outside information by way of affidavit or otherwise. It would be impossible to know of Buku's claim of zoning issues by viewing the information within the four corners of the contracts. Further, the purpose of Buku's purchase is never disclosed in the contracts. How could the court even know if zoning was a concern on the use of the property by respondents if zoning was never mentioned or contained in the "unambiguous" contracts?

Thus, the reasoning on the first decision of Judge Moeller had to be in error. The result denying summary judgment was acceptable to the appellants. The reasoning on the first decision, however, may have affected the result on the second ruling by Judge Watkins. That court needed additional information to interpret Paragraph 3; and, it would need to be supplemented to determine its meaning and application. Therefore, a portion of paragraph 3 of the contracts had to be ambiguous.

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