UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-22-2011

Buku Properties v. Clark Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38561

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. APPELLANTS'S CLAIMS ON APPEAL RELATED TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE ARE MOOT AND SHOULD BE DISMISSED

Appellants appear to argue that the District Court erred by failing to grant their claims for specific performance which is the first item listed in their prayer for relief. (R. Vol. I, p. 45). Appellants's arguments are moot and should be dismissed because the District Court could no longer impose specific performance, even if the case were remanded. Unbeknownst to Buku, on January 18, 2011, just six days before the hearing on Buku's Second Motion for Summary Judgment, Petersons transferred by quit claim deeds both their home in Bonneville County and the Jefferson County property at issue in the litigation to an entity named JBP Holdings, LLC ("JBP Holdings"). (Affidavit of DeAnne Casperson in Support of Motion for Leave to Take Depositions Duces Tecum

of Jerry Peterson and Betty Jean Peterson Pursuant to Idaho R. Civ. P. 27(b), with attachments, file stamped June 3, 2011 ("Casperson Aff."), ¶ 9-15, Order Granting Motion to Augment the Record dated November 2, 2011 ("Aug. Order")). The Certificate of Organization for JBP Holdings was filed on January 3, 2011. (Casperson Aff., ¶ 9, Ex. C, Aug. Order). The quit claim deeds purportedly transferring ownership of Petersons's real property to JBP Holdings were executed on January 18, 2011. (Casperson Aff., ¶ 10-15, Ex. D, F, Aug. Order). On February 16, 2011, additional quit claim deeds were executed, allegedly to correct an error in the deed's legal description. (Casperson Aff., ¶¶ 14-15, Ex. G; ¶ 13, Ex. H, Aug. Order). Petersons's counsel, Robin Dunn, notarized the quit claim deeds transferring Petersons's real property to JBP Holdings and had the documents recorded. (*See* Casperson Aff., Ex. D, E, F, G & H, Aug. Order).

Appellants Petersons's actions have now made any potential arguments related to specific performance of the Agreements moot. Idaho has long recognized the doctrine of mootness. *See Idaho Sch. for Equal Educ. Opportunity v. Idaho State Bd. of Educ.*, 128 Idaho 276, 281, 912 P.2d 644, 649 (1996). This Court has previously held that a case becomes moot when "the issues presented are no longer live or the parties lack a legally cognizable interest in the outcome." *Id.* (citing *Bradshaw v. State*, 120 Idaho 429, 432, 816 P.2d 986, 989 (1991)). The Court also has noted that "an issue is moot if it presents no justiciable controversy and a judicial determination will have no practical effect upon the outcome." *Id.* (citing *Idaho County Property Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Syringa Gen. Hosp. Dist.*, 119 Idaho 309, 315, 805 P.2d 1233, 1239 (1991)). Petersons can no longer deliver title to the Peterson Property because they transferred title to JBP Holdings, LLC.

Consequently, any cause of action raised by the Petersons related to specific performance of the

Peterson Agreement against Buku is moot because there is no longer a justiciable controversy.

Further, Petersons's actions have made Clarks's claim for specific performance moot as well.

The Clark Agreement contains a clause which states:

25. Contingencies. Buyer and Seller agree that Buyer intends to develop the property sold under this agreement. Seller's property cannot be developed without an adjacent property known as the Peterson property. Buyer and Seller agree that the purchase and sale herein are contingent upon Peterson selling to Buyer. If Peterson does not sell to Buyer, then Buyer has no obligation to close with Seller, and the earnest money will be returned to Buyer. The closing date between Buyer and Peterson will be scheduled at the same time as the closing date herein.

(R. Vol. I, p. 93).² Because the Petersons can no longer deliver the Peterson Property to Buku, the contingency in paragraph 25 of the Clark Agreement can no longer be met. Therefore, Clarks's causes of action for specific performance arising out of the Clark Agreement are also moot because, due to the Petersons's actions, the Clarks no longer have a justiciable controversy.

Because both Petersons and Clarks's claims for specific performance are moot, Appellants's appeal, as it relates to that issue, should be dismissed.

² The Peterson Agreement contains an analogous provision which provides that the purchase of the Peterson Property is contingent upon the Clarks selling the Clark Property to Buku. (R. Vol. I, p. 99).

^{10 -} RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO BUKU BASED ON THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF THE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENTS

1. Standard of Review

In an appeal from an order for summary judgment, this Court's standard of review is identical to the standard used by the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. *See Infanger v. City of Salmon*, 137 Idaho 45, 46-47, 44 P.3d 1100, 1101-02 (2002). All disputed facts are to be construed liberally in favor of the non-moving party. All reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party. *See Id.* "Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* Only a question of law remains, over which this Court exercises free review, if the evidence reveals no disputed issues of material fact. *Id.* Interpretation of an unambiguous contract is a question of law which is reviewed *de novo. DeLancey v. DeLancey*, 110 Idaho 63, 65, 714 P. 2d 32, 34 (1986). The determination of whether a contract is ambiguous is itself a question of law, reviewed *de novo. Id.* All issues related to the grant of summary judgment presented to this Court are reviewed *de novo* in that the issues present questions of law.

2. The District Court Correctly Determined that the Purchase and Sale Agreements Were Unambiguous and the District Court Did Not Consider Extrinsic Evidence.

The District Court carefully examined the language of the Agreements and correctly ruled that they were unambiguous and excluded any extrinsic evidence. In both the Memorandum Decision dated January 28, 2010, and the Memorandum Decision Re: Summary Judgment dated

February 3, 2011, the District Court found that the Agreements at issue in this matter were clear and unambiguous. (R. Vol. I, p. 203-205; Vol. II, p. 401-402).

"For a contract term to be ambiguous, there must be at least two different reasonable interpretations of the term, or it must be nonsensical." *Swanson v. Beco Constr. Co., Inc.*, 145 Idaho 59, 62, 175 P.3d 748, 751 (2007) (internal citations omitted). "If the language of a contract is unambiguous, then its meaning and legal effect must be determined from its words." *Cristo Viene Pentecostal Church v. Paz*, 144 Idaho 304, 308, 160 P.3d 743, 747 (2007). "If a written contract is complete upon its face and unambiguous, no fraud or mistake being alleged, extrinsic evidence of prior or contemporaneous negotiations or conversations is not admissible to contradict, vary, alter, add to, or detract from the terms of the contract." *Howard v. Perry*, 141 Idaho 139, 141-42, 106 P.3d 465, 467-68 (2005) (citing *Kimbrough v. Reed*, 130 Idaho 512, 943 P.2d 1232 (1997)). In the case at hand, the Clark Agreement and the Peterson Agreement are clear and unambiguous. Therefore, the Agreements must be enforced according to their plain terms.

Based on the straight forward language of the Agreements, Buku was entitled to make sure its interests and concerns regarding the Clark and Peterson Properties were satisfied. Paragraph 2(a) of the Clark Agreement specifically states that "all of such earnest Money shall be refundable until closing." (R. Vol. I, p. 89). Paragraph 2(a) of the Peterson Agreement likewise states "\$10,000.00 of the earnest money shall be non-refundable, the balance fully refundable until closing." (R. Vol. I, p. 96). Furthermore, pursuant to paragraph 3 of each of the Agreements, Buku had four months to perform its due diligence inspections on the properties as follows:

Prior to closing, it is Buyer's obligation to make sure that they are fully satisfied with the condition of the property, also any requirements, environmental requirements, and all of the requirements that the Buyer needs to make for its due diligence purposes. Buyer will have four months to perform the due diligence inspections to satisfy Buyer's interests and concerns regarding the purchase. Thus, closing will be on or before December 21, 2007.

(R. Vol. I, p. 89; 96).

In addition, paragraph 25 of the Peterson Agreement states:

Buyer and Seller agree that Buyer intends to develop the property sold under this agreement. Seller's property cannot be developed without an adjacent property known as the Clark property. Buyer and Seller agree that the purchase and sale herein are contingent upon Clark selling to Buyer. If Clark does not sell to Buyer, then Buyer has no obligation to close with Seller, and the earnest money will be returned to Buyer. . .

(R. Vol. I, p. 99). Paragraph 25 of the Clark Agreement contains similar language, making sale of

the Clark Property contingent upon sale of the Peterson Property to Plaintiff. (R. Vol. I, p. 93).

In its Memorandum Decision on the first Motion for Summary Judgment, the District Court

carefully analyzed the issue as follows considering both whether the due diligence provisions had

either a patent or latent ambiguity:

Both Buku and Defendants cite Paragraph 3 of the respective Agreements. Both Agreements contain the same language.

Prior to closing, it is Buyer's obligation to make sure that they are fully satisfied with the condition of the property, also any requirements, environmental requirements, and all of the requirements that the Buyer needs to make for its due diligence purposes. Buyer will have four months to perform the due diligence inspections to satisfy Buyer's interests and concerns regarding the purchase.

It is the last phrase that Defendants claim is ambiguous or indefinite - Buku had four months to perform due diligence inspections "to satisfy [Buku's] interests and

concerns regarding the purchase." According to Defendants, Buku's "interests and concerns" could be so broad as to include anything. According to the Defendants, such open language makes the clause so ambiguous or indefinite as to be unenforceable.

[...]"Idaho courts look solely to the fact of a written agreement to determine whether it is [patently] ambiguous." [citing *Swanson v. Beco Constr. Co., Inc.*, 145 Idaho 59, 175 P.3d 748 (2007)]. "A latent ambiguity is not evident on the fact of the instrument alone, but becomes apparent when applying the instrument to the facts as they exist." [citing *id.*]

To determine whether a contract is patently ambiguous, the court reads the contract's words or phrases given their established definition in common use or settled legal meanings. For a contract term to be ambiguous, there must be at least two different reasonable interpretations of the term, or it must be nonsensical. The Idaho Supreme Court clarified,

A party's subjective, undisclosed interpretation of a word or phrase cannot make the contract ambiguous. If it could, then all contracts would be rendered ambiguous merely by a party asserting a misunderstanding of the meaning of one or more of the words used. The voluntary failure to read a contract does not excuse a party's performance.

[citing *id*.]. After applying the law as stated by the Supreme Court, this Court finds that neither the Clark nor the Peterson Agreement is so ambiguous or indefinite as to render the Agreement unenforceable.

The Contracts are not patently ambiguous. The language at issue - "[Buku] will have four months to perform due diligence inspections to satisfy the Buyer's interests and concerns regarding the purchase" - is straightforward and clear. That Buku's "interests and concerns" could potentially be quite broad is true, but Defendants do not claim the terms have "at least two different reasonable interpretations." Nor do Defendants claim the terms are "nonsensical." The Court finds no patent ambiguity.

The Court further finds that the terms have no latent ambiguity. When applying the Agreements "to the facts as they exist," the Court finds the Agreements unambiguous. Buku was given four months to conduct due diligence concerning the properties. Potential zoning changes and their impact on financing are precisely the type of issues typically dealt with during the due diligence phase of a real estate

transaction. In short, under the facts of this case, it is reasonable that Buku would look into potential zoning problems, and that uncertainty regarding the properties' zoning would affect its "interests and concerns." There is no latent ambiguity in the contract.

(R. Vol. I, p. 204-05) (emphasis added). The District Court clearly addressed the ambiguity issue and correctly determined, *applying the Agreements to the facts as they exist*, as is required under Idaho case law, that the due diligence provisions of the Agreements were unambiguous. While the District Court considered the zoning issues in order to determine whether a latent ambiguity existed, it did not consider extrinsic evidence to interpret the terms of the Agreements. The District Court court court considered that the due diligence provisions were unambiguous.

3. The District Court Correctly Determined that Buku did not Breach the Agreement When it Failed to Close and was Entitled to Return of its Earnest Monies.

The District Court correctly determined based on the undisputed facts that Buku did not breach the Agreements. Based on the clear language of the due diligence period, Buku was entitled to ensure the condition of the properties satisfied its "interests and concerns." During its due diligence period, Buku learned that Jefferson County was considering changing the zoning of both the Clark Property and Peterson Property. (R. Vol. I, p. 84; 101). Because the purchase price for the properties was based upon the value of the properties as being zoned R-1, this potential change created serious problems for Buku. (R. Vol. I, p. 84; 85). More specifically, the bank providing Buku with financing for the purchase informed Buku that the zoning had to remain R-1 in order for the Bank of Commerce to fund the loan. (R. Vol. I, p. 85; 102).

Buku notified both the Clarks and the Petersons of its concern with the rezoning of the

property on December 18, 2007, via a memorandum. The memorandum to the Petersons stated:

Buku Properties, LLC, and A. Jerry Peterson agree that with the recent county zone change, both parties need additional time to review the contract. Because of the County Commissioner's recent proposed county-wide zone change, resulting in this property potentially being zoned R-5. The appraiser and the bank dealing with Buku Properties, LLC have legitimate concerns with financing. We agree to move our closing date back from December 21, 2007, to March 1, 2008. We will continue to talk and cooperate with each other.

(R. Vol. I, p. 104). The memorandum to the Clarks contained identical language. (R. Vol. I, p. 103).

In a letter from their counsel dated December 19, 2007, Petersons and Clarks refused to cure

the zoning defect and rejected Buku's offer to extend the time for Buku to review the Agreements.

(R. Vol. I, p. 105). Consequently, Buku refused to close.

Regarding the District Court's consideration of the zoning issues in determining whether

Buku breached the Purchase and Sale Agreements, the District Court analyzed the issue as follows:

In its First Memorandum Decision, the Court previously stated:

Buku was given four months to conduct due diligence concerning the properties. Potential zoning changes and their impact on financing are precisely the type of issues typically dealt with during the due diligence phase of a real estate transaction. In short, under the facts of this case, it is reasonable that Buku would look into potential zoning problems, and that uncertainty regarding the properties' zoning would affect its "interests and concerns."

First Memorandum Decision at 8.

The language of the Agreements clearly allowed Buku to ensure it was "fully satisfied" with the condition of the Property and "all the requirements" it needed to satisfy its "interests and concerns."

While the provisions, "fully satisfied" and "buyer's interests and concerns" are potentially broad, they are not ambiguous. During the four month due diligence

period, Buku was authorized to satisfy *its interests and concerns* regarding purchasing the Properties. Thus, the Agreements permitted Buku to look into potential zoning changes that would affect its "interests and concerns." Buku's efforts to fully satisfy its interests and concerns were expressly permitted under the contract.

(R. Vol. II, p. 401-402)(emphasis in original).

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